
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Patrick Adams 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

20 September 2021 
 
To: Chair – Councillor Tony Mason 
 Vice-Chair – Councillor Nick Sample 
 Members of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee – 

Councillors Jose Hales, Geoff Harvey, Mark Howell, Fiona Whelan and 
Heather Williams 

Quorum: 3 
 
Substitutes: Councillors Nick Wright, Bunty Waters, Tom Bygott, 

Grenville Chamberlain, Graham Cone, Steve Hunt and Henry Batchelor 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee, which will be held in To be confirmed at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
Tuesday, 28 September 2021 at 10.00 a.m.  
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, 
subcommittees, and outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of 
the substitution in advance of the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute 
once the meeting has started.  Council Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Liz Watts 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, 
access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all circumstances into 

account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do 
what we can to help you. 

 

 
Agenda 

Pages 
1. Apologies for Absence    
 To receive Apologies for Absence from Committee members.   
   
2. Declarations of Interest    
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting   1 - 4 
 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021 as a correct 

record. 
 

   
4. Audit and Governance update   5 - 12 

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 03450 450 500 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



 
 Decision Items   
 
5. Treasury Management - Annual Report 2020/2021   13 - 28 
 
 Information Items   
 
6. Matters of Topical Interest    
 
7. Date of Next Meeting    
 Wednesday 1 December 2021 at 10am.  
   

 

  
 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 



 Please also refer to the Covid-security measures relating to meetings in the Council 
Chamber which are on the website page for each relevant meeting.  
 
Members of the public wishing to view the meeting will be able to watch the livestream 
via the link which will be publicised before this meeting. 
 
Members of the public wishing to attend the meeting in person, please contact 
Democratic Services at democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also 
have a responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to 
Reception, sign in, and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, 
please sign out and return the Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 
03450 450 500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest 
escape route; from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this is via the staircase 
just outside the door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the 
staff  entrance 

 Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a 
minimum of 1.5 hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire 
wardens or the Fire and Rescue Service.  

 Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the Fire and Rescue Service 
confirms that it is safe to do so.  

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and 
minutes. We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, 
please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you.  The Council Chamber is 
accessible to wheelchair users.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in the 
Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red 
transmitter and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ 
position.  If your hearing aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also 
available and can be used independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from 
Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. These include facilities 
for disabled people. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. Public meetings are webcast and 
are also recorded, but we allow recording, filming and photography at Council, Cabinet and 
other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings at the meeting 
are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the 
meeting, please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster 
or other similar item.  If you do so, the Chair will suspend the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
. 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


   
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chair will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from the meeting room.  
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chair may 
call for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 

 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No 
one can smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming 
part of those offices. 
Food and Drink 
Until the lifting of Covid restrictions, no vending machines are available. Bottled water is available 
for attendees at meetings. 



South Cambridgeshire District Council 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee held on 
Thursday, 29 July 2021 at 10.00 a.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Tony Mason – Chair 
  Councillor Nick Sample – Vice-Chair 
 
Councillors: Geoff Harvey Mark Howell 
 Steve Hunt Fiona Whelan 
 Heather Williams  
 
Officers: Patrick Adams Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 Peter Maddock Head of Finance 
 Rory McKenna Monitoring Officer 
 Jeff Membery Head of Transformation 
 Tara Nutbeam-King Corporate Fraud Manager 
 
Auditors: Suresh Patel Ernst & Young 
 Mark Russell Ernst & Young 
 Jonathan Tully Head of Shared Internal Audit 
 
Councillor John Williams was in attendance, by invitation. 
 
1. Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies for Absence were received from Councillor Jose Hales. Councillor Steve Hunt 

was present as Councillor Hales’ substitute. 

  
2. Declarations of Interest 
 
 None. 

  
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2021 were agreed as a correct record. 

 
Councillor Tony Mason, Chair of the Committee, explained that he had read Mr Daniel 
Fulton’s e-mail requesting to speak this morning and had replied to say that he was 
deferring this matter to the next meeting. He would accept Mr Fulton’s public question at 
the next meeting, providing that it was received seven days before the meeting and that it 
was relevant and appropriate. 

  
4. Internal Audit Plan and Opinion 
 
 The Head of Shared Internal Audit, presented this report which included both the 

proposed Internal Audit Annual Plan and Strategy for the next six months and a progress 
update of the work carried out in the previous six months. 
 
Delivery 
The Head of Shared Internal Audit explained how the team had continued to deliver audits 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Thursday, 29 July 2021 

during the Covid-19 pandemic which had reduced the number of reviews completed in the 
last six months. 
 
Progress update 
The Head of Shared Internal Audit explained that the two limited assurance reviews had 
been in Planning and had been discussed by the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. In 
response to questioning, the Head of Shared Internal Audit agreed that the follow-up was 
prioritised in the plan, and was expected to be reported to the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee. 
 
Fixed Asset Register 
The Head of Shared Internal Audit reported that an audit of the Fixed Asset Register was 
planned in the next 12 months, but on the request of the Chair he agreed that this could 
be brought forward. He would discuss the approach with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Resources for Internal Audit 
In response to questioning, the Head of Shared Internal Audit stated that there were 
appropriate resources available for the Council’s current internal audit function plan. 
 
National Fraud Initiative and benchmarking 
Councillor Mark Howell enquired if the Council compares its performance with those of 
other similar sized authorities. The Head of Shared Internal Audit replied that Shared 
Internal Audit had comparable data from its two local authorities and experience of other 
Councils. He concluded that the results and the data was consistent. 
 
Impact of Covid-19 
The Head of Shared Internal Audit reported that the shared audit service had responded 
well to the challenges created by the Covid-19 pandemic. Any audits which required a 
physical presence would be affected, however the team was already experienced at 
delivering work remotely. 
 
The Committee Approved the draft Audit Plan and Strategy and the supporting Charter 
and Code of Ethics. 

  
5. External Audit - 2018/19 Accounts (Report to follow) 
 
 Suresh Patel reported that whilst External Audit had completed a substantial part of the 

audit for the 2018/19 accounts, the Council had not yet resolved issues regarding the fixed 
asset register and the disclosures of property, plant and equipment. Unfortunately it was 
unlikely that External Audit would be able to complete their work on the accounts until 
October. He acknowledged that the 2018/19 accounts had been better prepared than the 
2017/18 accounts.  
 
External audit fees 
Suresh Patel confirmed that the Auditor’s fees would inevitably be higher than estimated, 
due to the extra work involved. 
 
The Committee thanked Suresh Patel for his work as the Council’s External Auditor and 
wished him for the future. The Committee Noted the report. 

  
6. Audit of 2018/19 Accounts (Report to Follow) 
 
 The Chief Finance Officer presented this report which confirmed that whilst there were 

issues with the fixed asset register these were close to being resolved. A number of 

Page 2



Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Thursday, 29 July 2021 

assets needed to be removed from the register and the Chief Finance Officer believed that 
the amendments would not have a significant impact on the accounts. 
 
Additional resources 
The Chief Finance Officer stated that an additional officer was required to work on the 
fixed asset register. He added that extra resources were required to assist with the budget 
and finance monitoring, whilst work on the accounts was ongoing. 
 
Councillor Heather Williams reported that the Committee had been expressing similar 
concerns about the fixed asset register going back to September 2018. She agreed that 
extra resources were needed but asked if there were sufficient funds in the budget and 
whether the number of staff in Finance had changed since 2019. The Chair requested that 
at the next meeting, the following facts be provided: 

 The number of Full Time Equivalents in the Finance Team. 

 The structure of the Finance Team. 

 An Action Plan to deliver the resources required. 
 
Councillor John Williams, Lead Finance Member for Cabinet, confirmed that the necessary 
funds would be found to recruit the staff required. Members of the Committee suggested 
that the further recruitment of apprentices in Finance should be considered. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer explained that the Chief Accountant had experience of 
preparing accounts for audit and would lead on this work for the 2019/20 accounts. He 
agreed to bring a report to the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
The Committee thanked the Chief Finance Officer and Noted the report. 

  
7. Annual Fraud Report 
 
 The Corporate Fraud Manager and Chief Finance Officer presented this Annual Fraud 

report, which detailed the counter fraud activity undertaken by the Fraud Investigation 
Services in 2020/21. It was noted that the Corporate Fraud Team had been set up in 
January 2020. Unfortunately the Covid-19 virus had made it difficult to carry out 
investigations. Nationally the amount of fraud had increased due to the pandemic. 
 
The Chair requested that every meeting the Committee receive a report on the latest 
enquiries into fraud and attempted fraud. The Chief Finance Officer agreed to this request. 
 
The Committee Recommended that Cabinet agree the Annual Fraud report. 

  
8. Matters of Topical Interest 
 
 Ombudsman’s report 

The Head of Transformation reported that the Ombudsman had fully investigated five 
complaints and four of these had been upheld. Two of these complaints related to 
planning, one to enforcement and one regarding a Tree Preservation Order. Financial 
compensation had been awarded, totalling less than £2,000. Processes had been put in 
place to prevent any repetition. The Committee welcomed the low number of complaints 
and noted the report. 
 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 
The Monitoring Officer reported that there been no investigations under the RIPA 
regulations during the last quarter. 

 

Page 3



Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Thursday, 29 July 2021 

  
9. Date of Next Meeting 
 
 28 September 2021 at 10 am. 

  

  
The Meeting ended at 11.35 a.m. 

 

 

Page 4



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Introduction 

Contents 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 1 

Contents ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Purpose ..................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Your team ............................................................................................................................... 2 

Committee information ........................................................................................................... 2 

Accountancy Progress ............................................................................................................... 2 

Asset Register ........................................................................................................................ 2 

2019/2020 .............................................................................................................................. 2 

External Audit update ................................................................................................................. 2 

EY Contact ............................................................................................................................. 2 

ARGA ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

PSAA Audit Lot Proposals ...................................................................................................... 3 

Governance Risk and Control updates ...................................................................................... 3 

Planning Performance ............................................................................................................ 3 

Carbon Management .............................................................................................................. 3 

Phishing risks ......................................................................................................................... 3 

Legislation changes ................................................................................................................... 3 

ISA240 ................................................................................................................................... 3 

Counter Fraud update ................................................................................................................ 4 

Statistics – Our Quarterly position .......................................................................................... 4 

Useful Links ............................................................................................................................... 8 

Training opportunities ................................................................................................................ 8 

Counter fraud: ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Note ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

 

 

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Document overview 

The purpose of this document is to provide 
an update to the Committee on key audit 
and governance themes. 

The Chair suggested, at the July 2021 
meeting, that a slot at the beginning of 
future meetings was allocated to check in on 
key areas of governance and provide any 
updates. If there are no updates in a 
particular area to report, that can be noted 
and taken as assurance in itself. 

This document provides summary updates 
for the Committee. Statistics are included to 
help provide an overview of work in 
progress and these are taken from the last 
financial quarter. 

Your team 

Head of Finance and Section 151 officer 

Head of Shared Internal Audit 

Corporate Fraud Manager 

Monitoring Officer 

Senior Democratic Services officer 

Committee information 

Calendar of meetings 

Committee Membership and Functions 

Accountancy Progress 

Asset Register 

The Asset Register has all the 2018/19 
information in it apart from any possible 
updated valuations needed as a result of the 
work undertaken identifying the surplus 
pieces of HRA land. This work has been 
now been completed and the Council’s 
valuer will be reviewing the parcels of land 
and providing his valuation. The valuation 
work is expected to commence on 20th 
September. 

Internal Audit will shortly be carrying out 
their review of the asset register. The scope 
of the audit has been agreed and the work is 
likely to be carried out during October. 

The 2018/19 accounts work was due to 
recommence from 17th September. There 
are a few non asset register queries to 
complete and the asset work will 
recommence once the valuer has provided 
his valuations on the surplus land the 
accounts have been updated (if necessary) 
and the fixed asset auditor is able to 
complete her work. Expected completion is 
either late November or early December. 

2019/2020 

The 2019/20 accounts audit is due to start in 
Mid-January for six weeks. Work on the 
2019/20 accounts is complete apart from the 
fixed assets which cannot be added until the 
2018/19 position is agreed. There will need 
to be a short gap between completion of 
2018/19 and 2019/20 for this work to be 
completed and the audit planning work to be 
undertaken. 

The Council have employed an additional 
resource to assist with the accounts and that 
resource will be concentrating on the 
2019/20 accounts ensuring that they are 
presented for audit on time. Getting an 
additional resource to assist with the asset 
register has proved rather more difficult as 
expected and it has been concluded that we 
use an existing resource who has previously 
worked on the asset register for this. 

The timeline for the 2020/21 accounts audit 
will now fall into 2022/23 and we will then 
need to plan for the 2021/22 audit. 

External Audit update 

EY Contact 

Suresh has now left EY as announced at the 
last committee meeting. His replacement is 
now confirmed to be Janet Dawson.  

Page 6

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=834&Year=0
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=834


 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

ARGA 

The government has proposed making the 
replacement to the Financial Reporting 
Council the new system leader for local 
audit, following the Redmond Review. 

The Audit, Reporting and Governance 
Authority (ARGA), announced as a 
replacement for the FRC last year, will be 
strengthened with new powers to oversee 
the local government audit system. 

ARGA would provide annual reports on the 
state of local audit and take over 
responsibility for the updated Code of Local 
Audit Practice. 

PSAA Audit Lot Proposals 

Local authority procurement body Public 
Sector Audit Appointments will reassess its 
proposal to increase the number of audit lots 
following response from the sector. 

Governance Risk and 
Control updates 

Planning Performance 

We have been reviewing Planning 
Performance Data for Q2 2021 (Apr – Jun) 
which was finalised at the end of August for 
MCHLG. This is an opportunity to evaluate 
controls and processes which were 
implemented in May, following our previous 
review which was reported to Overview and 
Scrutiny.  

Carbon Management 

The Council has collected carbon emission 
data to report its third set of annual GHG 
emissions accounts, for the reporting period 
1st April 2020 – 31st March 2021. They 
have been drawn up according to the 
principles outlined in the latest 
Environmental Reporting Guidelines issued 
by the Government’s Departments for 
Environment, Farming and Rural Affairs, 

(DEFRA), and Business Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS).  

We reviewed information presented in the 
annual report, the spreadsheet calculations, 
and sample tested available supporting data 
for accuracy. As a result of this work, we are 
able to confirm that calculations and 
formulas have been accurately applied. 

Phishing risks 

The National Anti-Fraud Network has 
highlighted recent targeted Office 365 
Phishing scams. Once fraudsters get access 
these accounts, they can then intercept 
emails to facilitate mandate fraud (changing 
bank details to direct large payments to their 
own fraudulent bank accounts).  

Our own ICT network controls are designed 
to prevent unauthorised devices accessing 
our network, frustrating any fraudsters 
attempting this scam. Fraudsters are always 
thinking of new scams, so it is important to 
stay vigilant and our ICT team issue regular 
reminders to employees. 

Legislation changes 

ISA240 

The Financial Reporting Council announced 
amendments to ISA240, which outlines 
external auditors’ responsibilities on 
detecting fraud and misstatements in 
financial statements.  

Under current arrangements the Audit 
Committee Chair is asked for written 
statements about the authority’s 
arrangements for fraud.  

Changes strengthen how auditors are 
required to assess and respond to fraud 
risks and place greater emphasis on 
auditors applying professional scepticism. 
The changes come into effect from 
December 2021 and will be used in audits of 
2022-23 accounts.

Page 7

https://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2021/05/government-announces-new-local-audit-leader
https://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2021/05/government-announces-new-local-audit-leader
https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/08/update-on-psaas-consultations-on-its-plans-for-the-second-appointing-period/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/08/update-on-psaas-consultations-on-its-plans-for-the-second-appointing-period/


 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Counter Fraud update 

Statistics – our quarterly position 

We have included some fraud statistics below from the recent quarter. The purpose of these is to 
provide the Committee with an overview of the work in progress, and specific individual details are 
not disclosed due to sensitivity and risk of compromising any investigations in progress.  

Reports of suspected fraud received 

Analysis by the source of intelligence: 

 
  

Page 8



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Fraud by type 

Analysis by fraud type: 

 
  

Page 9



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Investigations in progress (as at 30 June 2021) 

Case Status Number of Cases Key  

Live Investigation 24 Open investigations  

Interview Under Caution (IUC) Zero Number of IUC’s 
from live 
investigations  

Sanction decision  Total  

Zero 

Cases submitted to 
sanctions panel.  

Criminal  

Prosecution  

Administrative Penalty  

Caution 

 

Prosecution and Civil action  

 

Civil 

Warning Letter  

No Further Action 

Notice to quit (Secure or flexible tenancy) 

Notice of proceedings for possession (intro tenancy)  
/ Notice to Seek possession (secure and flexible) 

  

 

N.A.   

 

Investigations Closed 

Closure Reason Number 

A10 Fraud proven but no further action  

A11 Not investigated, passed for visit  

A13 Not investigated - not on benefit  

A4 Closed - claimant error only  

A5 Closed- no fraud established 1 

A7 Not investigated - passed to DWP  

Page 10



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

 

Proactive work – Prevention 

Prevention is an important aspect of our Counter Fraud arrangements.  

 

Education    

Workshop Attendees April 2020-April 2021  31   

Campaign work  Zero   

Verification checks    

Right to buy verification enquiries reported  17 Visits - 15 

Outstanding RTB Docs/Visit   2 2 

Homelessness verification enquiries reported  Zero  

General housing verification enquiries  Zero  

Ermine Street  1  

Locta  Zero  

DWP SPOC enquiries    

LAIEF’s  8  

General  

DPA requests  

 

1 

 

National Fraud Initiative Matching   

NFI Biennial exercise 

Closed – Already Known  

Closed – No issue 

 

1 

284 

 

NFI Annual exercise CT / SPD 

Closed – No issue 

 

37 

 

 

Cases of RIPA used in period: 0 

 

  

Page 11



 

Audit & Corporate Governance 
Committee update 

 

Useful Links 

Link Details 

Public Sector Audit Appointments PSAA is responsible for appointing an auditor and setting 
scales of fees for relevant principal authorities that have 
chosen to opt into its national scheme. 

EY.com EY is our current externally appointed auditor 

 

Training opportunities 

Counter fraud: 

We are currently working on developing training material on counter fraud. Resources are being 

collated, from LGA materials, to enhance member knowledge of fraud and corruption within Local 

Government.   

Examples have been used to provide practical application of how fraud and corruption may 

present itself, and key information has been provided around member responsibility to contribute 

to the counter fraud effort.  

 

Note 

This document will contain links to external websites where it provides more information. We are 
not responsible for the content of external websites. 

Page 12

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/
https://www.ey.com/en_uk/government-public-sector/services


 
 

REPORT TO: 

 

Audit & Governance 28 September 2021  

LEAD CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Councillor John Williams, 
Lead Cabinet Member for Finance 
 

LEAD OFFICER: Peter Maddock, Head of Finance  
 

 

Treasury Management – Annual Report 2020/2021 

Executive Summary 

1. This report outlines the Treasury Management activities in the financial year 
2020/2021 and invites the Audit and Governance Committee to note the Treasury 
Management performance and approve the report. 

Key Decision 

2. This is not a key decision as there are no resource implications directly arising from 
the report at this stage. 

Recommendations 

3. That Audit and Governance Committee is requested to consider the report, to 
seek any clarification and, if satisfied, approve the Treasury Management 
Annual Report.  

Reasons for Recommendations 

4. To consider a report on Treasury Management activities during the financial year 
2020/2021.   

Details 

Treasury Portfolio 2020/2021: Summary Position 
 
5. The summary position as at 31 March 2021 (with comparable data for 31 March 

2020) is shown below: 

 

 31 March 2020  31 March 2021 

Borrowing £000 Rate %  £000 Rate % 

PWLB 205,123 3.51  205,123 3.51 

LOBO - Market Nil   Nil  

Local Authority 10,000 0.82  44,000 0.50 

Other Long-Term Liabilities Nil   Nil  

Total Debt 215,123   249,123  

Investments (111,719)   (111,658)  

Net Borrowing/(Investment) 103,404   137,465  

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Investments 
 

6. Investments are categorised into long and short term (i.e. less than 365 days). The 
sum of £25.27 million had less than one year to maturity as at 31 March 2021 and is, 
therefore, classified as short term. The remaining balance held of £86.39 million is 
classified as a long-term investment. The increase in Long Term Investments reflects 
the increased allocation to South Cambs Limited and loan to Cambridge Leisure and 
Ice Centre during the year.  A summary of the investments held is shown below: 

 

 

Balance 
01/04/2020 

New 
Investments 

Maturities/ 
Sales 

Interest 
Accrued 

Balance 
31/03/2021 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Investment Counterparty      

Short Term:      

Clearing Banks 5,000 27,000 (32,000) (11) 14,000 

Other Banks Nil 25,000 (25,000)  Nil 

Building Societies Nil 76,500 (76,500)  Nil 

Housing Associations 5,000 5,000 (5,000) (48) 5,000 

Local Authorities 9,500 30,130 (39,630  Nil 

Money Market Funds 9,860 108,315 (118,175)  Nil 

Call Account Nil 118,375 (112,110)  6,265 

      

Long Term:      

CLIC (Ice Rink Loan) 2,400   (103) 2,400 

South Cambs Ltd 71,644 12,349  (579) 83,993 

      

Total Investments 103,404    111,658 

      

Increase/(Decrease) in Investments 8,254 

 
7. Investment returns remained low during 2020/2021. The UK Bank Rate remained at 

its record low of 0.1% during 2020/2021 and this provided a degree of stability for the 
Council’s liquid holdings and in the short-term Local Authority Market. Short-term 
money market rates are still, however, at very low levels with average 3-month 
London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) in 2020/2021 being 0.03%, 6 month LIBID 0.01% 
and 1 year LIBID 0.03%. These rates correlate to the anticipated return to be 
achieved on investments over the durations quoted. The Council’s actual return of 
2.95% shows the effect of the portfolio’s long-term duration set out above.  
 

8. Recurring themes throughout 2020/2021 in the UK were the uncertainty following the 
UK withdrawal from the European Union (EU) on 31 January 2020, and the full 
effects of the Coronavirus pandemic, each acting as a dampener on growth and 
inflation expectations. In the UK an initial coronavirus lockdown was implemented in 
late March 2020 with the closure, at that time, of schools and all non-essential retail 
outlets. Restrictions were eased from 1 June 2021 with the phased reopening of 
schools but any prospect of an increase in growth potential in the UK were, however, 
dashed with further essential lockdowns taking effect from 5 November 2020 and 6 
January 2021. A tiered system of restrictions was introduced after the second 
lockdown from 2 December 2020 with a roadmap eventually announced for lifting the 
lockdown fully; this eventually occurred on 19 July 2021. 

Page 14



9. In response to the prevailing economic conditions interest rates were cut globally with 
banks seeking to provide liquidity through the purchase of financial assets. In the UK 
itself, the Bank of England cut the Base Rate initially on 11 March 2020 to 0.25% 
(from 0.75%) and subsequently it was reduced further on 19 March 2020 to a record 
low level of 0.1%. It was maintained at this level throughout 2020/2021.  
 

10. The Government also introduced a number of financial measures that sought to help 
businesses survive the crisis caused by the Coronavirus pandemic, including loan 
guarantees for bank lending, payment of business grants and the expansion of retail 
relief reducing the business rates liability for many businesses. These measures 
continued during the financial year 2020/2021. Given the uncertainty throughout 
2020/2021 a cautious approach has been evident whereby investments continued to 
be dominated by low counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low 
returns compared to prevailing borrowing rates.  
 

11. HM Treasury commenced, in March 2020, a consultation on potential changes to the 
rules around local authorities borrowing from the PWLB. The aim of the consultation 
was to develop a proportionate and equitable way to prevent local authorities from 
using PWLB loans to buy commercial assets primarily for yield, without impeding their 
ability to pursue service delivery, housing, and regeneration under the prudential 
regime. Following the consultation, the Government announced (on 25 November 
2020) revised lending terms for PWLB borrowing and initial guidance to support Local 
Authorities to determine if a proposed project is an appropriate use of PWLB loans. 
These new terms applied to all loans arranged from 9.00am on 26 November 2020.  
 

12. The unexpected increase in PWLB interest rates, by one percentage point from 8 
October 2019, was reversed on 26 November 2020 to coincide with the introduction 
of new borrowing restrictions. This was in line with the Government announcement at 
the start of the consultation process to cut the interest rate on new PWLB loans, 
subject to market conditions, once a workable system could be designed and 
implemented to ensure that support would not be diverted into debt for-yield activity. 
 

13. In respect of investments generally, the overall structure of interest rates has for 
some time meant that short term rates have remained lower than long term rates. In 
this scenario, the strategy has continued to be to reduce investments and borrow for 
short periods and possibly at variable rates when required. However, this needs 
careful review to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the 
authority may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
and/or refinance maturing debt. 
 

14. The Council’s primary objective in relation to its investments is to ensure that long 
term capital is not put at risk but that, within acceptable risk parameters, the portfolio 
is managed to ensure that interest is maximised. Liquidity is managed through the 
use of money market funds with additional access to the liquid PWLB and Local 
Authority borrowing market. This objective is reinforced in the Treasury Management 
Strategy approved by Council on 23 February 2021. The Council has also appointed 
a Treasury Management Advisor, Link Asset Services, to enable independent 
specialist advice to be obtained on all aspects of the treasury management function, 
including advice on investments. 
 

15. Short term borrowing of £44 million was obtained from Local Authorities to fund 
further loans to South Cambs Ltd, investment strategy acquisitions such as 296 
Cambridge Science Park and the Vitrum Building and regeneration sites like 
Northstowe.  

Page 15



16. The table below lists the £5 million held in fixed term investments as at 31 March 
2021. These investments are deposits with registered housing provider Places for 
People Ltd:  
 

 Amount Interest Total Term Rate Maturity Date 

 £000 £000 £000 Days %  

Counterparty       

Places for People 1,000 12.699 1,013 364 1.50 26/05/2021 

Places for People 2,500 35.000 2,535 364 1.40 30/06/2021 

Places for People 1,500 14.959 1,515 364 1.50 05/07/2021 

       

Total  5,000      

 
17. The remaining £20.27 million of short-term investment balances were held in Notice 

accounts and the Council’s Call account for liquidity purposes.  
 

18. Security of capital remained the Council’s main investment objective. This was 
maintained by following the Council’s counterparty policy, as set out in its Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement for 2020/2021, which defined “high credit quality” 
organisations as those having a long-term credit rating of A- or higher that are 
domiciled in the UK or a foreign country with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher.  
 

19. All new investments are undertaken in accordance with advice from the Council’s 
Treasury Management Adviser. A list of investment counterparties used during 
2020/2021 is listed in Appendix A. 
 
Borrowing 
 

20. At 31 March 2021 the Council had external borrowing of £249.123 million:  
 

 

Balance 
01/04/2020 

Maturing 
Debt 

Reclassified 
Debt New Debt 

Balance 
31/03/2021 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Borrowing      

Short Term Borrowing 10,000 (10,000)  44,000 44,000 

Long Term Borrowing  205,123    205,123 

Total Borrowing 215,123    249,123 

Other Long Term Liabilities      

Total External Debt 215,123    249,123 

 
21. £205,123 million of the total relates to borrowing from the PWLB. The PWLB loans 

were obtained for Housing Revenue Account (HRA) purposes as part of the HRA 
Self-Financing in 2012. These loans are fixed interest maturity loans having an 
average term to maturity of approximately 25 years and bearing interest at an 
average rate of 3.51%.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Cash Management 
 

22. In keeping with the MHCLG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council maintained a 
sufficient level of liquidity averaging £5.8 million through the use of Money Market 
Funds, Notice accounts and Call accounts.  
 

23. Internal Treasury Management includes the management of the Council’s bank 
account balances. The aim is for all cleared funds to be deposited in interest bearing 
accounts or time deposits. 
 
Outturn Budget Monitoring 
 

24. Council, at its meeting on 20 February 2020, approved a net budget in 2020/2021 for 
interest payable of £2.128 million and investment income of £4.537 million. A lower 
than forecast borrowing requirement and using short term borrowing rather than 
longer term in the year contributed to a decrease in interest payable. Lower than 
forecast capital expenditure in 2020/2021 resulted in lower Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) cost. MRP is not applied to lending to South Cambs Ltd.  
 

25. The budget is compared to the final outturn position in the table below: 

 

 

Budget 
2020/2021 

Outturn 
2020/2021 

Variance 

 £000 £000 £000 

Expenditure Description    

Interest Payable - PWLB & Short-Term Loans 9,321 7,253 (2,068) 

Contribution to/(from) Reserves/Provision (1,382) 1,795 3,177 

Minimum Revenue Provision 2,075 870 (1,205) 

Interest Receivable (4,537) (4,148) 389 

Net Expenditure 5,477 5,770 293 

 
26. The significant variances against budget were the Contribution to Reserves, MRP 

and Interest Payable. The Reserves increased by £1,795 million rather than the 
reduction forecast. The additional contribution related to unused Covid-19 Grant 
monies carried forward including unspent money from the £1.9 million Local Authority 
Support Grant. The other significant contribution was to the Renewables Reserve 
from the additional gain on the Business Rates Pool. Interest Payable was lower than 
budgeted due to changes to the Capital Programme following the introduction of new 
PWLB lending rules and the use of short term borrowing from Local Authorities that 
offer rather lower rates than that of the PWLB. MRP was also lower due to changes 
to the Capital Programme. 

 
Benchmarking 
 

27. Benchmarking data is also provided by the Council’s Treasury Management Adviser. 
Investment return rates for the year to 31 March 2021 (excluding lending to South 
Cambs Ltd) are reported on a quarterly basis and were better than the client average 
and can be compared as follows: 
 

Page 17



 Investment Returns 

Quarter Ending SCDC Client Average 

30 June 2020 0.70% 0.50% 

30 September 2020 0.50% 0.36% 

31 December 2020 0.35% 0.24% 

31 March 2021 0.41% 0.24% 

 
28. Benchmarking data on average weighted credit scores of the Council’s counterparties 

(based in information held by the Council’s Treasury Management Adviser) is set out 
in the table below and illustrates the Council’s credit risk position in relation to other 
Councils: 

 

 

Weighted 
 Average Credit Risk 

Quarter Ending SCDC Comparators 

31 March 2020 2.53 2.88 

30 June 2020 3.48 2.60 

30 September 2020 3.45 2.87 

31 December 2020 5.30 3.01 

31 March 2021 5.20 3.12 

 
29. The benchmarking shows that the Council’s portfolio began the year with a slightly 

lower average credit risk than its Comparators group and finished the year with 
slightly higher exposure than the group. The Council has maintained investment 
returns above the client average. 
 
Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/2021 

(a) Interest Rates and Investments 
 

30. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/2021 was prepared in the context of a 
record low interest rate policy with Bank of England Base Rate responding to 
economic conditions by initially reducing the rate from 0.75% to 0.25% on 11 March 
2020 and then reducing it further on 19 March 2020 to the record low level of 0.1%. It 
was maintained at this level throughout 2020/2021. This intervention in the financial 
markets has continued to affect the Council’s holdings.  
 

31. The Council continued its policy of minimising risk by investing in Fixed Deposits only 
with highly rated Banks and Building Societies, Local Authority Counterparties and 
Registered Providers and using Money Market Funds and Bank Call Accounts to 
manage liquidity. This policy coupled with using pooled fund investments (suitably 
diversified) to maximise interest return on an element of the Council’s portfolio has 
enabled the Council to reduce the cost of Capital Financing. 

(b) Borrowing  
  
32. The 2020/2021 borrowing strategy was based upon obtaining new PWLB loans of 

£113 million to fund the capital programme. Capital expenditure saw significant 
change related to the Investment Strategy and was significantly lower than planned 
due to changes in PWLB lending rules. Theis change and careful management of 
cash flows and short-term borrowing enabled the Council to fund the capital 

Page 18



programme without entering into long term borrowing. The Council did, however, 
borrow £44 million of short term Local Authority loans during the year, and £44 million 

of this was outstanding as at 31 March 2021.  
 

33. During 2020/2021 there was a requirement for short term external borrowing of £44 
million and this was used to finance capital expenditure. This is inclusive of additional 
loans to the value of £12.3 million made to South Cambs Limited. These loans are 
recognised as capital expenditure in the year increasing the Council’s underlying 
need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement). 
 

  

Actual  
Original 
Budget 

Actual 

2019/2020 2020/2021 2020/2021 

£’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
as at 1st April 

      

 - General Fund 64,645 153,748 98,910 

 - HRA 204,429  204,429 204,429 

Total 269,074 358,177 303,339 

Change in the CFR  39,536 89,103 34,265 

Minimum Revenue Provision (581) (870) (870) 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
as at 31 March 

308,029 446,410 336,734 

 

Economy 
 

34. The Council’s Treasury Management Advisers have provided a summary of the 
economy during 2020/2021, and related performance, and this is included at 
Appendix B.   
 

Compliance with Performance Indicators 
 

35. During the financial year the Council operated within the treasury limits and prudential 
indicators approved by Full Council on 20 February 2020.  
 

36. Performance against prudential indicators in 2020/2021 was as follows: 
 

(1) Acceptance of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 
(National Indicator)  

 

This indicator demonstrates that the Council adopted the principles of best practice. 
The Council adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 
Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2011 Edition in 
January 2012. The Council adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management Code & 
Guidance Notes as part of its Treasury Management Policy and Strategy which was 
considered and approved at its meeting on 20 February 2020.  

(2) Fixed Interest Rate Exposure and Variable Interest Rate Exposure  
 
This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate risk. The 
upper limits on fixed and variable interest rate exposures is expressed as the 
proportion of net principal borrowed.  
 

Page 19



Maturity structure of borrowing 
 

Under 12 
months 

More than 
12 
months 

Under 12 
months - 
Actual 

More than 
12 
months - 
Actual 

Upper limit for fixed interest rate 
exposure 

100% 100% 100% 100% 

Upper limit for variable rate exposure 100% 0% 0% 0% 

 
(3) Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing  
 

37. This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates. 
 
Fixed Rate Borrowing 

Lender Repayable within Amount £,000 

Local Authorities <12 Months 19,000 

Local Authorities 1-5 years 25,000 

PWLB 15 – 20 years 45,000 

PWLB 20 – 25 years 50,000 

PWLB 25 – 30 years 50,000 

PWLB 30 – 35 years 50,000 

PWLB 35 – 40 years 10,123 

 

The 2011 revision to the CIPFA Treasury Management Code now requires the 
prudential indicator relating to Maturity of Fixed Rate Borrowing to reference the 
maturity of LOBO loans to the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment.  
 
(4) Upper Limit for Total Principal Sums Invested Over 364 Days  

 
The purpose of this limit is to contain exposure to the possibility of loss that may 
arise as a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of the sums 
invested. 
 
The only loans exceeding 364 days are loans made to South Cambs Ltd, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Council, and Cambridge Ice and Leisure Centre (CLIC). 
Lending to CLIC formed 2% of the investment portfolio at 31 March 2021. 
 
The limit relates to the maximum amount that can be invested in year. With regard 
to liquidity, no more than 50% of the total average portfolio held will be invested in 
instruments over 364 days, excluding South Cambs Ltd. 
 
(5) Credit Risk  
 
The Council considers security, liquidity and yield, in that order, when making 
investment decisions. Credit ratings remain an important element of assessing credit 
risk but they are not a sole feature in the assessment of counterparty credit risk.  
 
The Council also considers alternative assessments of credit strength and information 
on corporate developments and market sentiment towards counterparties. The 
following key tools are used, either by ourselves or the appointed Treasury Advisers 
to assess credit risk:  

 

Page 20



 Published credit ratings of the financial institution (minimum A- or equivalent) 
and its sovereign (minimum AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns);  

 Sovereign support mechanisms;  

 Credit default swaps (where quoted);  

 Share prices (where available);  

 Economic fundamentals (such as a country’s net debt as a percentage of its 
GDP);  

 Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and momentum. 
 

The only indicators with prescriptive values are credit ratings. Other indicators of 
creditworthiness are considered in relative rather than absolute terms.  

 
(6) Liquidity Risk  
 
The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 
monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a 
rolling three month period, without additional borrowing. 

Implications 

38. In the writing of this report, taking into account the financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered:  
 
Legal 
 

39. The Council is required to have regard to the CIPFA Code of Practice for 
Treasury Management in the Public Services. The Code recommends that an 
annual post year report on Treasury Management activities is prepared for 
consideration after each year end.  
 
Policy 

 

40. Full Council, at its meeting on 20 February 2020, approved the Council’s Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy Statements for 2020/2021 and the Strategy was 
reaffirmed by Audit and Governance Committee, at its meeting on 24 November 
2020, following a mid-year review. 
 
Finance 
 

41. In 2020/2021 the Council managed a turnover in investments of £403 million 
(£387 million in 2019/2020) in-house within the Finance Team in the Finance 
Directorate. As at 31 March 2021, the Council had funds to the market value of 
£111.7 million (£103.4 million at 31 March 2020), all managed in-house. These 
funds include capital balances, reserves and provisions, collection fund monies 
and monies held on behalf of third parties. The increase was due primarily to 
Covid-19 Grant income and retained business rates.   
 

42. At 31 March 2021 the Council had external borrowing of £249.1 million plus £Nil 
million of leasing liabilities (£215.1 million with no refuse vehicle leasing liabilities 
at 31 March 2020)  
 
 

Page 21



Risks 
 

43. There are clearly inherent risks in placing investments both in terms of the 
security of the capital invested and the level of return from the investment. The 
approved Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021 identified the Councils 
investment priorities as:  
 

(i) The security of the capital;  
(ii) The liquidity of its investments.  

 
44. The Treasury Management Strategy states that the Authority’s objective when 

investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving low 
investment income.  
 

45. The Council engages an external Treasury Management Adviser to provide 
appropriate and timely advice on the Council’s treasury portfolio (and, in 
particular, to provide advice on counter-party creditworthiness and investment 
limits). This appointment is regarded as critical given the investment risks. 
 
Environmental 
 

46. There are no direct environmental implications arising from the report. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
 

47. In preparing this report, due consideration has been given to the District Council’s 
statutory Equality Duty to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations, as set out in Section 149(1) of the Equality Act 
2010. A relevance test for equality has determined that the activity has no relevance 
to South Cambridgeshire District Council’s statutory equality duty to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relation.  An 

equality impact assessment is not needed. 
 
Effect on Council Priority Areas 
 

48. Timely and robust consideration of the Council’s treasury management activities is 
vital to ensure that financial performance is in line with expectations. 

Background Papers 

Where the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 require documents to be open to inspection by members of the 
public, they must be available for inspection:  
 

(a) at all reasonable hours at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council; 
(b) on the Council’s website; and 
(c) in the case of documents to be available for inspection pursuant to regulation 15, on 

payment of a reasonable fee required by the Council by the person seeking to inspect 
the documents at the offices of South Cambridgeshire District Council. 

The following documents are relevant to this report: 
 

 Budget Setting Report – Report to Council: 20 February 2020 
 

Page 22



 Capital Strategy – Report to Council: 20 February 2020 
 

 Treasury Management Strategy – Report to Council: 20 February 2020 
 

 Mid-Year 2020/2021 Treasury Management Report – Report to Audit & Corporate 
Governance Committee: 24 November 2020 
 

Appendices 

 
A Investment Counterparties 2020/2021 
 
B Treasury Management Adviser – Economic Review 2020/2021 
 
 

Report Authors:  Peter Maddock – Head of Finance 

e-mail: peter.maddock@scambs.gov.uk 
 

Dan Hasler – Accounts Assistant 
e-mail: daniel.hasler@scambs.gov.uk 

Page 23

mailto:peter.maddock@scambs.gov.uk
mailto:daniel.hasler@scambs.gov.uk


Appendix A 
 

Investment Counterparties 2020/2021 
 

The Council’s investment counterparties used during 2020/2021 are listed below: 

 

Category Counterparty 

  Building Society Coventry BS 

Clearing Bank Barclays Bank 

Clearing Bank Lloyds Bank 

Clearing Bank Santander UK 

Other Bank Close Brothers 

Other Bank Standard Chartered 

Housing Association Places for People 

Local Authority Peterborough City Council 

Local Authority Uttlesford DC 

Local Authority Conwy CBC 

Local Authority Derbyshire CC 

Local Authority North of Tyne CA 

Local Authority Surrey CC 

Local Authority Lichfield Council 

Local Authority Cheltenham BC 

Local Authority Eastleigh BC 

Local Authority Calderdale MBC 

Money Market Fund Aberdeen Standard Life  

Money Market Fund Deutsche Bank 

Money Market Fund Aviva 

Call account Barclays Bank plc 

South Cambs Ltd Ermine Street Housing 

Other investments Cambridge Leisure and Ice Centre  

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 24



Appendix B 
 

Treasury Management Adviser – Economic Review 2020/2021 
 

UK.  Coronavirus. The financial year 2020/21 will go down in history as being the year of the 
pandemic.  The first national lockdown in late March 2020 did huge damage to an economy that was 
unprepared for such an eventuality.  This caused an economic downturn that exceeded the one 
caused by the financial crisis of 2008/09.  A short second lockdown in November did relatively little 
damage but by the time of the third lockdown in January 2021, businesses and individuals had 
become more resilient in adapting to working in new ways during a three month lockdown so much 
less damage than was caused than in the first one. The advent of vaccines starting in November 
2020, were a game changer. The way in which the UK and US have led the world in implementing a 
fast programme of vaccination which promises to lead to a return to something approaching normal 
life during the second half of 2021, has been instrumental in speeding economic recovery and the 
reopening of the economy. In addition, the household saving rate has been exceptionally high 

since the first lockdown in March 2020 and so there is plenty of pent-up demand and 
purchasing power stored up for services in the still-depressed sectors like restaurants, travel 
and hotels as soon as they reopen. It is therefore expected that the UK economy could 
recover its pre-pandemic level of economic activity during quarter 1 of 2022. 

 

Both the Government and the Bank of England took rapid action in March 2020 at the height 
of the crisis to provide support to financial markets to ensure their proper functioning, and to 
support the economy and to protect jobs.  

The Monetary Policy Committee cut Bank Rate from 0.75% to 0.25% and then to 0.10% in March 
2020 and embarked on a £200bn programme of quantitative easing QE (purchase of gilts so as to 
reduce borrowing costs throughout the economy by lowering gilt yields). The MPC increased then QE 
by £100bn in June and by £150bn in November to a total of £895bn. While Bank Rate remained 
unchanged for the rest of the year, financial markets were concerned that the MPC could cut Bank 
Rate to a negative rate; this was firmly discounted at the February 2021 MPC meeting when it was 
established that commercial banks would be unable to implement negative rates for at least six 
months – by which time the economy was expected to be making a strong recovery and negative 
rates would no longer be needed. 

Page 25



Average inflation targeting. This was the major change adopted by the Bank of England in terms of 
implementing its inflation target of 2%.   The key addition to the Bank’s forward guidance in August 
was a new phrase in the policy statement, namely that “it does not intend to tighten monetary policy 
until there is clear evidence that significant progress is being made in eliminating spare capacity and 
achieving the 2% target sustainably”. That seems designed to say, in effect, that even if inflation 
rises to 2% in a couple of years’ time, do not expect any action from the MPC to raise Bank Rate – 
until they can clearly see that level of inflation is going to be persistently above target if it takes no 
action to raise Bank Rate. This sets a high bar for raising Bank Rate and no increase is expected by 
March 2024, and possibly for as long as five years.  Inflation has been well under 2% during 2020/21; 
it is expected to briefly peak at just over 2% towards the end of 2021, but this is a temporary short 
lived factor and so not a concern to the MPC. 

Government support. The Chancellor has implemented repeated rounds of support to businesses by 
way of cheap loans and other measures, and has protected jobs by paying for workers to be placed 
on furlough. This support has come at a huge cost in terms of the Government’s budget deficit 
ballooning in 20/21 and 21/22 so that the Debt to GDP ratio reaches around 100%.  The Budget on 
3rd March 2021 increased fiscal support to the economy and employment during 2021 and 2022 
followed by substantial tax rises in the following three years to help to pay the cost for the pandemic. 
This will help further to strengthen the economic recovery from the pandemic and to return the 
government’s finances to a balanced budget on a current expenditure and income basis in 2025/26. 
This will stop the Debt to GDP ratio rising further from 100%. An area of concern, though, is that the 
government’s debt is now twice as sensitive to interest rate rises as before the pandemic due to QE 
operations substituting fixed long-term debt for floating rate debt; there is, therefore, much 
incentive for the Government to promote Bank Rate staying low e.g. by using fiscal policy in 
conjunction with the monetary policy action by the Bank of England to keep inflation from rising too 
high, and / or by amending the Bank’s policy mandate to allow for a higher target for inflation. 

BREXIT. The final agreement on 24th December 2020 eliminated a significant downside risk for the UK 
economy.  The initial agreement only covered trade so there is further work to be done on the 
services sector where temporary equivalence has been granted in both directions between the UK 
and EU; that now needs to be formalised on a permanent basis.  There was much disruption to trade 
in January as form filling has proved to be a formidable barrier to trade. This appears to have eased 
somewhat since then but is an area that needs further work to ease difficulties, which are still acute 
in some areas. 

USA. The US economy did not suffer as much damage as the UK economy due to the pandemic. The 
Democrats won the presidential election in November 2020 and have control of both Congress and 
the Senate, although power is more limited in the latter. This enabled the Democrats to pass a 
$1.9trn (8.8% of GDP) stimulus package in March on top of the $900bn fiscal stimulus deal passed by 
Congress in late December. These, together with the vaccine rollout proceeding swiftly to hit the 
target of giving a first jab to over half of the population within the President’s first 100 days, will 
promote a rapid easing of restrictions and strong economic recovery during 2021. The Democrats are 
also planning to pass a $2trn fiscal stimulus package aimed at renewing infrastructure over the next 
decade. Although this package is longer-term, if passed, it would also help economic recovery in the 
near-term. 

After Chair Jerome Powell spoke on the Fed's adoption of a flexible average inflation target in his 
Jackson Hole speech in late August 2020, the mid-September meeting of the Fed agreed a new 
inflation target - that "it would likely be appropriate to maintain the current target range until labour 
market conditions were judged to be consistent with the Committee's assessments of maximum 
employment and inflation had risen to 2% and was on track to moderately exceed 2% for some time." 
This change was aimed to provide more stimulus for economic growth and higher levels of 
employment and to avoid the danger of getting caught in a deflationary “trap” like Japan. It is to be 

Page 26



noted that inflation has actually been under-shooting the 2% target significantly for most of the last 
decade, (and this year), so financial markets took note that higher levels of inflation are likely to be in 
the pipeline; long-term bond yields duly rose after the meeting. There is now some expectation that 
where the Fed has led in changing its policy towards implementing its inflation and full employment 
mandate, other major central banks will follow, as indeed the Bank of England has done so already. 
The Fed expects strong economic growth during 2021 to have only a transitory impact on inflation, 
which explains why the majority of Fed officials project US interest rates to remain near-zero through 
to the end of 2023. The key message is still that policy will remain unusually accommodative – with 
near-zero rates and asset purchases – continuing for several more years. This is likely to result in 
keeping treasury yields at historically low levels.  However, financial markets in 2021 have been 
concerned that the sheer amount of fiscal stimulus, on top of highly accommodative monetary 
policy, could be over-kill leading to a rapid elimination of spare capacity in the economy and 
generating higher inflation much quicker than the Fed expects. They have also been concerned as to 
how and when the Fed will eventually wind down its programme of monthly QE purchases of 
treasuries. These concerns have pushed treasury yields sharply up in the US in 2021 and is likely to 
have also exerted some upward pressure on gilt yields in the UK. 

EU. Both the roll out and take up of vaccines has been disappointingly slow in the EU in 2021, at a 
time when many countries are experiencing a sharp rise in cases which are threatening to 
overwhelm hospitals in some major countries; this has led to renewed severe restrictions or 
lockdowns during March. This will inevitably put back economic recovery after the economy had 
staged a rapid rebound from the first lockdowns in Q3 of 2020 but contracted slightly in Q4 to end 
2020 only 4.9% below its pre-pandemic level.  Recovery will now be delayed until Q3 of 2021 and a 
return to pre-pandemic levels is expected in the second half of 2022. 

Inflation was well under 2% during 2020/21. The ECB did not cut its main rate of -0.5% further into 
negative territory during 2020/21.  It embarked on a major expansion of its QE operations (PEPP) in 
March 2020 and added further to that in its December 2020 meeting when it also greatly expanded 
its programme of providing cheap loans to banks. The total PEPP scheme of €1,850bn is providing 
protection to the sovereign bond yields of weaker countries like Italy. There is, therefore, unlikely to 
be a euro crisis while the ECB is able to maintain this level of support.  

China.  After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 of 2020, economic recovery 
was strong in the rest of the year; this has enabled China to recover all of the contraction in Q1. 
Policy makers have both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and fiscal 
support that has been particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth.  

Japan. Three rounds of government fiscal support in 2020 together with Japan’s relative success in 
containing the virus without draconian measures so far, and the roll out of vaccines gathering 
momentum in 2021, should help to ensure a strong recovery in 2021 and to get back to pre-virus 
levels by Q3. 

World growth. World growth was in recession in 2020. Inflation is unlikely to be a problem in most 
countries for some years due to the creation of excess production capacity and depressed demand 
caused by the coronavirus crisis. 

Deglobalisation. Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing globalisation i.e. 
countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have an economic 
advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world. This has boosted worldwide 
productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed inflation. However, the rise of 
China as an economic superpower over the last 30 years, which now accounts for nearly 20% of total 
world GDP, has unbalanced the world economy. In March 2021, western democracies implemented 
limited sanctions against a few officials in charge of government policy on the Uighurs in Xinjiang; 
this led to a much bigger retaliation by China and is likely to mean that the China / EU investment 
deal then being negotiated, will be torn up. After the pandemic exposed how frail extended supply 

Page 27



lines were around the world, both factors are now likely to lead to a sharp retrenchment of 
economies into two blocs of western democracies v. autocracies. It is, therefore, likely that we are 
heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of 
western countries from dependence on China to supply products and vice versa. This is likely to 
reduce world growth rates. 

Central banks’ monetary policy. During the pandemic, the governments of western countries have 
provided massive fiscal support to their economies which has resulted in a big increase in total 
government debt in each country. It is therefore very important that bond yields stay low while debt 
to GDP ratios slowly subside under the impact of economic growth. This provides governments with 
a good reason to amend the mandates given to central banks to allow higher average levels of 
inflation than we have generally seen over the last couple of decades. Both the Fed and Bank of 
England have already changed their policy towards implementing their existing mandates on 
inflation, (and full employment), to hitting an average level of inflation. Greater emphasis could also 
be placed on hitting subsidiary targets e.g. full employment before raising rates. Higher average rates 
of inflation would also help to erode the real value of government debt more quickly. 

 

Page 28


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Audit and Governance update
	5 Treasury Management - Annual Report 2020/2021

